History of Physics Department
Early History (1911-1948) ‘

The first appointments of academic staff at The University of Queensland were
made in 1910. At the commencement of teaching in 1911 a Lecturer in Physics, Thomas
Parnell, M.A. (Cantab) was appointed within a combined department of Mathematics and
Physics, and in 1912 an Assistant Lecturer, S. Gordon Lusby followed. In 1919 Parnell
was promoted to a Chair and Physics became a separate department. About that time
Parnell set up a workshop using Navy surplus tools. The department’s first research
publication, on AC measurements, had appeared in 1917 while Parnell was at the War,
but with a small staff and heavy teaching loads research does not seem to have enjoyed a
high priority in those times, much to Lusby's disappointment.

In 1937 Hugh Webster, whd had done a PhD with Chadwick in the Cavendish
Laboratory and almost discovered the neutron, was appointed as Lecturer in Hospital
Physics with costs shared by the Qld Cancer Trust and the Brisbane and South Coast
Hospitals Board. He set up a radon preparation plant and began to establish strong links
with the Faculty of Medicine. A textbook written by Webster and Donald Robertson
served first year medical and other biological science students for many years.

At the beginning of WWII the department had five academic staff including a
Demonstrator but there were no fourth level or other honours lectures given and there
were only ever a few students at third level. From 1940 Webster and Arnold Reimann
were seconded to the Radiophysics Division of CSIR to work on radar, returning in 1945.

Meanwhile the department had become involved in ionospheric studies funded by the
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appointed. He quickly developed a strong research group that focussed on an earlier
suggestion of the intrinsic predictability of earthquakes. He became Professor of Applied
Physics in 1971. Thus, there were three established chairs, in Experimental, Theoretical
and Applied Physics. The theoretical group had been expanded with the appointment of
Jim O’Mara in 1967 and Gerard Finn in 1968. Following the resignation of Finn, John
Ross was appointed in 1973. In 1970 there were 3 Professors, 5 Readers, 9 Senior
Lecturers, 9 Lecturers, 8 Senior Demonstrators and 15 full-time Demonstrators, and in
addition to staff of the two workshops and office there was a storeman, two lecture
attendants, a purchasing officer, and equipment officer, a Professional Officer (graduate
engineer) and two analysts,

Professor Parsons replaced Professor Webster as Head in 1970. At this stage, the
research activities of the department were ionospheric physics, magnetospheric physics,
radiation biophysics, theoretical astrophysics, microwave spectroscopy, quantum optics,
solid state physics, atomic physics, and geophysics. In 1974 Neville Milford introduced
Environmental Physics research based on modelling of the Brisbane River system and
Moreton Bay and was joined in that work by John Steele. In 1975, following the death of
Robert McNicol, John Mainstone moved from magnetospheric research to physical
oceanography. Under the leadership of David Whitehead (personal chair 1975) members
of the ionospheric group had moved their work to a field station at Bribie Island where a
large array antenna was being developed. The appointment of Brian Lucas in 1969
introduced experimental solid state physics research and Bryan Dalton in 1970 started
research in theoretical quantum optics. Lynn Hastie joined the geophysics group in 1972,

Professor Stacey became Head of Department in 1979 and Professor Whitehead in 1982.
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in Canada about a year later, accentuating divisions within the department over his
appointment.

Before 1983 the University had been organised with maintenance and equipment
funding being determined by central committees for various areas, and the Heads of
Departments in those areas splitting the funds, often using historical precedent. The staff
numbers in each department were determined by the Standing Committee of the
Academic Board for academic staff, and the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Fabric and
Finance) for general staff. A major change was introduced in 1983 with the University
being divided into five "Groups" each headed by a Pro-Vice-Chancellor responsible for
funding arrangements within his group. The five groups did not correspond to the
thirteen faculties which decided academic matters. The Physics Department (along with
Mathematics, Chemistry and Geology) was included in a Physical Sciences and
Engineering Group, whose PVC, Professor Nicklin, adopted the principle of a one-line
budget with a formula, regarded by some as arbitrary and biassed, based on teaching and
research indicators, to determine how income was split. Physics rapidly found itself in
financial difficulties that were exacerbated as other faculties decided that their students
did not require as much Physics in their first year as previously.

The Previous Review and Subsequent Developments

In 1985 the department was the first to undergo a decennial Review. At that time
the academic staff consisted of 3 Professors, 5 Readers, 13 Senior Lecturers, one
Lecturer, 3 Senior Tutors, and one full time Tutor. In its submission, the department

advocated changes to the funding scheme, including a change to Faculty based resource
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Associate Professor Mainstone became Head. He worked hard to encourage cooperation
and strategic planning and to maintain service courses. In 1993 Associate Professor Mike
Gladwin left to join CSIRO Exploration and Mining, but he has continued to offer PhD
and Honours projects in instrumentation and geophysics as an Honorary Reader. In 1994
the department’s long role as a service subject provider to the Faculty of Medicine finally
came to a complete end with introduction from 1995 of a graduate-entry medical course
requiring only high school level Physics for entry. Undergraduate enrolments in Physics
were moderately stable but were continuing to drop as a proportion of Group or
University enrolments as the government expanded tertiary student numbers, so the
department’s financial situation continued to deteriorate, with virtually all income being
committed to salaries. On the other hand, the ISI was able to award its highest accolade to
the department in 1996 for the worldwide impact of its research over the preceding five-
year period. In the same year, the Mt Kent Observatory (a joint venture with The
University of Southern Queensland) was officially opened, and also a very significant
financial agreement with Telstra for use of the former antenna-array site at Bribie Island
was signed. In 1995 on the initiative of the Physics Department ( Rubinsztein-Dunlop
and Amberyn Thomas), the Faculty of Science and the Faculty of Engineering, a
program called "Science in Action" was started with the aim of promoting and
popularising Physical Sciences. The program is directed toward school pupils and their
teachers as well as to the general public and has been very successfull.
The Restructure (1996)

Financial problems came to a head in 1996 with the accession of a new Vice-

Chancellor, John Hay, and the announcement by the Australian Government of cuts to
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After an initial declaration of Redundancy for the entire academic staff of the
department as from 2 December, five tenured staff already working in laser
physics/quantum optics were transferred to a “Centre for Laser Science” to be directed by
Professor Milburn, and continued their appointments within the Physics Department
while the other 11 tenured staff, including those who had already accepted half-time
appointments, were invited to apply for a total of six equivalent full-time positions,
consisting of two positions in astronomy/astrophysics, two positions in geofhysics, one
in solid state physics, and one other teaching and research position in experimental
physics. Part-time appointments were allowed. Although the advertised positions were
specified in some detail there were some surprises when the appointments were
announced. Excess staff had full access to the provisions of the Universities and Post
Compulsory Academic Conditions Award 1995 in terms of redundancy payments.
Overall three previously tenured academics lost their positions and two others were asked
to accept half-time appointments.

Professor Milburn was also appointed Head of Department, the Vice-Chancellor
not consulting the staff as had occurred on previous occasions following the 1970 Senate
Rules. The “restructuring” process resulted in a certain amount of negative publicity, with
some press reports declaring that the department had been closed. This may have had
some adverse effects on enrolments. One proven effect of the “restructure”, which was
finalised as classes began in 1997, was a 30% increase in teaching loads with no chance
to make adjustments to subject offerings. The death of Lynn Hastie exacerbated these
problems. Fortunately, the appointment of a Lecturer was approved in 1998. Another

result of the restructure was the provision of funding to allow for much needed
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supervision. The larger number of postgraduate students in 1998 reflects a marked
growth in the Physics postgraduate enrolments in the first half of the present decade.
Many postgraduates are also making a larger contribution to the teaching and other
activities of the department than formerly was the case.
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